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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
SAN FRANCISCO DIVISION

IN RE INVISION TECHNOLGIES, INC. Case No. C-04-3181 (MJJ)
SECURITIES LITIGATION
STATEMENT OF RECENT DECISIONS
RELATED TO DEFENDANTS’ MOTION
TO DISMISS PLAINTIFFS” AMENDED
CONSOLIDATED COMPLAINT

Pursuant to Northern District of California Civil Local Rule 7-3(d), defendants InVision
Technologies, Inc., Sergio Magistri and Ross Mulholland (collectively, “Defendants™) hereby
submit for the Court’s consideration copies of the following recent decisions: In re Business
Objects S.A. Sec. Litig., Case No. C 04-2401 MJJ, 2005 WL 1787860 (N.D. Cal. July 27, 2005), a
copy of which is attached as Exhibit A and Morgan v. AXT, Inc., Case Nos. C 04-4362 MJJ and C
05-5106 MJJ, 2005 WL 2347125 (N.D. Cal. Sept. 23, 2005), a copy of which is attached as
Exhibit B.

STATEMENT OF RECENT DECISIONS RELATED TO DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS CONSOLIDATED COMPLAINT
Case No. C-04-3181 (MJJ)




FENWICK & WEST LLP

ATTORNEYS AT LAW

MOUNTAIN VIEW

© 00 N oo o1 b~ O w N

[ T N N N N N T T N T e I N R e N T < =
Lo N o o B~ wWw DN PP O © 00N oo o B~ W N+ o

Case 3:04-cv-03181-MJJ  Document 71  Filed 01/04/2006 Page 2 of 2

Defendants submit that these decisions are relevant in the following respects:

1. Business Objects affirms that (1) the existence of an SEC investigation does not
raise a strong inference of scienter (2005 1787860, at *7) and (2) scienter may not be inferred
from allegations that Defendants’ allegedly fraudulent conduct concerned their “core business.”
Id. at *8 n. 3. These findings are relevant to the arguments set forth at pages 18-21 of
Defendants’ Opening Brief and pages 10-13 of their Reply Brief.

2. The AXT decision holds that in order to be held liable for a forward-looking
statement, the person making the statement must have “actual knowledge ... that the statement
was false or misleading.” 2005 WL 2347125, at *6 (quotations omitted). In AXT, the Court held
that “even assuming the statements were false or misleading, the post-Class Period disclosure
does not raise a strong inference of scienter here. The fact that the Company admitted, after the
Class Period, that it had failed to follow testing requirements on “certain shipments,” is
insufficient to raise a strong inference that Defendants knew, at the time the quality statements
were made, that the statements were false or misleading.” Id. at *12. These holdings are relevant
to the arguments set forth at pages 18-21 of Defendants’ Opening Brief and pages 10-13 of their
Reply Brief.

3. The AXT court also held that plaintiff’s allegations were insufficient to establish
that the Sarbanes-Oxley certifications attesting to the adequacy of the company’s internal
disclosure controls were false when made. Id. at *15. This holding is relevant to the arguments

set forth at pages 13-17 of Defendants’ Opening Brief and pages 4-8 of their Reply Brief.

DATED: January 4, 2006 Respectfully submitted,

FENWICK & WEST LLP

By:__ /s/ Susan S. Muck
Susan S. Muck

Attorneys for Defendants
INVISION TECHNOLOGIES, INC., SERGIO
MAGISTRI and ROSS MULHOLLAND
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United States District Court,
N.D. California.
In re BUSINESS OBJECTS S.A. SECURITIES
LITIGATION,
No. C 04-2401 MJJ.

July 27, 2005.

ORDER. GRANTING DEFENDANTS' 12(b)(6)
MOTION TO DISMISS

JENKINS, J.
*] This Document Relates To: ALL ACTIONS

) INTRODUCTION

Before the Court is Businesss Objects, Berpard
Liautaud, James Tolonen, and John Olsen's
{("Defendants") Motion to Dismiss a federal securities
fraud action brought against them by a class
consisting of all purchasers of Business Objects'
stock ("Plaintiffs") between April 23, 2003 and April
29, 2004 (the "Class Period”). Defendants seek an
Order dismissing the Consolidated Class Action
Complaint ("Complaint”) with prejudice under the
heightened pleading requirements of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 ("PSLRA")
and pursnant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure
12(b¥(6). For the following reasons, Defendants'
motion is GRANTED with leave to amend.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

This motion arises from an Amended Complaint
filed against all Defendants alleging securities fraud
in violation of section 10(b) and 20(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act. The allegations of
Plaintiffs' complaint relate to Business Objects'
announcement on April 29, 2004, which disclosed its
financial results for the first quarter of 2004 and its
forecast its returns for the June 2004 quarter. In 2003,
Business Objects enjoyed revenue growth, reporting
revenue of $118.5 million, $129 million and $129.1
million for the first three quarters of 2003,
respectively. On December 11, 2003, Business
Objects armounced it had completed its acquisition of
Crystal Decisions, Inc,, a private Canadian company
also in the business intelligence market.
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On February 8, 2004, Business Objects reported
revenue of $184.2 million for the December 2003
quarter. The same day Business Objects reported its

results, it also projected revenue of $208 to $218

million and earnings per share ("EPS") of $0.03 to

$0.09 (GAAP) and $0.10 to $0.16 (non-GAAP) for -

the March 2004 quarter. On April 29, 2004, Business
Objects reported its financial results for the March
2004 quarter. Business Objects eammed revemue of
$217 million and EPS of $0.04 (GAAP) and $0.10
(non-GAAP). In the same release, Business Objects
also gave guidance for its June 2004 quarter in the
range of $220 to $225 million, which was weaker
than securities analysts had anticipated. Several
securities analysts expressed disappointment with

Business Objects' June 2004 guidance and lowered '

their own forecast in response.

On April 30, 2004, the day the analyst reports were
issued, Business Objects stock price declined from
$28.58 to $21.92. Business Objects ended up
reporting revenue of $222.2 million for the June 2004
quarter.

On May 4, 2004, Business Objects filed its quarterly
report on Form 10-Q for the March 2004 quarter. In
the Form 10-Q, Business Objects disclosed that the
SEC had commenced an informal inquiry into its
backlog practices. The 10-Q stated, "[wlhile we
believe our practices are proper and in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles in the
United States, we can give no assurance as to the
outcome of this inquiry.” Three months later,
Business Objects disclosed that it had received a
"Wells" notice _[FN1] from the SEC and that it
believed the SEC's inquiry related to the fact that

Business Objects "does not disclose its backlog of :

unshipped orders."

FNI1. A "Wells" notice refers to the notice
provided by the SEC when a decision has
been made to recommend to the

Commission that a civil action be initiated

against an issuer.

LEGAL STANDARDS
A. Rule 12(b)(6)

*2 A court may dismiss a complaint pursuant to |
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) for either ‘
lack of a cognizable legal theory or the pleading of .

© 2005 Thomson/West. No Claim to Orig. U.S. Govt. Works.
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insufficient facts under an adequate theory.
Robertson v. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc., 749 F.2d
330, 533-34 (9th Cir.1984). When deciding upon a
motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim upon
which relief can be granted pursuant to FRCP
12(b)(6), a couit must take all of the material
allegations in the plaintiff's complaint as true, and
construe them in the light most favorable to plaintiff,
Parks School of Business, Inc. v. Symington, 51 F.3d

1480, 1484 (5th Cir.1995). Moreover, a complaint
should not be dismissed unless a plaintiff could prove

no set of facts in support of his claim that would
entitle him to relief. Jd

In the context of a motion to dismiss, review is
limited to the contents in the complaint. Aflarcom
Pay Television, Ltd. v. General Instrument Corp., 69
F.3d 381, 385 (9th Cir.1995). When maiters outside
the pleading are presented to and accepted by the
court, the motion to dismiss is converted into one for
summary judgment, Where such a conversion takes
place, all parties must be given an opportunity to
present all material made pertinent to such a motion
by Rule 56. In re Pacific Gateway Exchange, Inc.
Sec. Lit., 169 F. .2d 1160, 1164 (N.D.Cal.2001Y;
see also FedR.Civ.P. 12(b). However, matters
properly presented to the court, such as those
attached to the complaint and incorporated within its
allegations, may be considered as part of the motion
to dismiss. See Hal Roach Studios, Inc. v. Richard
Feiner & Co., 896 F.2d 1542, 1555 n. 19 (9th
Cir.1989).

Where a plaintiff fails to- attach to the complaint
documents referred to in it, and upon which the
complaint is premised, a defendant may attach to the
motion to dismiss such documents in order to show
that they do not support plaintiff's claim. See Pacific
Gateway Exchange, 169 F.Supp.2d at 1164; Branch
v. Tunnell, 14 ¥.3d 449, 454 (9th Cir.1994). Thus, the
district court may consider the full texts of
documents that the complaint only quotes in part. See
In re Stay Electronics Sec. Lit, 89 F.3d 1399, 1405 n.
4 (9th Cir.1996). This rule precludes the plaintiffs
"from surviving a Rule 12(b}(6) motion by
deliberately omitting references to documents upon
which their claims are based." Parrino v. FHP, Inc.,
- 146 F.3d 699. 705 (9th Cir.1998).

B. Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5

Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act
("Exchange Act™) provides, in part, that it is unlawful
“to use or employ in connection with the purchase or
sale of any security registered on a national securities
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exchange or any security not so registered, any
manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance in
contravention of such rules and regulations as the
[SEC] may prescribe.” 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b).

- Rule 10b-5 makes it unlawful for any person to use

interstate commerce
*3 (a) To employ any device, scheme, or artifice to
defraud.
(b) To make any untrue statement of material fact
or to omit to state a material fact necessary in order

to make the statements made, in the light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not

misleading, or

(c) To engage in any act, practice, or course of
business which operates or would operate as a

fraud or deceit upon any person, in connection with
the purchase or sale of any security.
17 CER. § 240.10b-5

To be actionable under section 10(b) and Rule 10b-
5, a plaintiff must allege: 1) a misrepresentation or
omission; 2) of material fact; 3) made with scienter;
4) on which the plaintiff justifiably relied; 5) that
proximately caused the alleged loss. See Binder v.
Gillespie, 184 F.3d 1059. 10 ‘
Additionally, as in all actions alleging fraund,
plaintiffs must state with particularity the

C. Section 20(a)

Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act ]pi'ovides

9th Cir.1999).

circumstances constituting fraud: Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b). -

derivative liability for those who control othets found
to be primarily liable under the Act. /n re Ramp |

Networks, Inc. See. Lit., 201 F.Supp.2d 1051, 1063
{N.D.Cal.2002). Where a plaintiff asseérts a section

20(a) claim based on an underlying violation of
section 10(b), the pleading requirements for both !

violations are the same. Id. .

D. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act

In 1995, Congress enacted the PSLRA to provide
"protections to discourage frivolous [securities]
litigation." H.R. Conf. Rep. No. 104-369, 104th

Cong., 1st Sess. at 32 (Nov. 28, 1995). The PSLRA-

strengthened the pleading requirements of Rules §(a)

and 9(b). Actions based on allegations of material
misstatements or omissions under the PSLRA must
"specify each statement alleged to have been

misleading, the reason or reasons why the statement

is misleading, and, if an allégation regarding the
stitement or omission is made on information and

belief, the complaint shall state with particularity all |
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facts on which that belief is formed." 15 US.C. §
Z8u-4(bY(1).

The PSLRA also heightened the pleading threshold
for causes of action brought under Section 10(b) and
Rule 10b-5. Specifically, the PSLRA imposed strict
requirements for pleading scienter. A complaint
under the PSLRA must "state with particularity facts
giving rise to a strong inference that the defendant
acted with the required state of mind." 15 US.C. §
78u-4(b)(2). The Ninth Circuit, in interpreting the
PSLRA, has held that "a private securities plaintiff
proceeding under the [PSLRA] must plead, in great
detail, facts that constitute strong circumstantial
¢vidence of deliberately reckless or conscious

misconduct.” In re Silicon Graphics Inc., 183 F.3d

970. 974 (9th Cir.1999). If the complaint does not

satisfy the pleading requirements of the PSLRA,
upon motion by the defendant, the court must dismiss
the complaint. See 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(1).

ANALYSIS
A . Rule 8

*4 Defendants argue that the complaint does not

meet the requirements of Rule 8 of the Federal Rules’

Civil Procedure because of the "puzzle-style” nature
of the Plaintiffs' allegations. Rule 8 requires that a
plaintiff provide a “"short and plain statement”
describing why the plaintiff is "entitled to relief." The
Court notes that the complaint often quotes the entire
text of public documents and rarely gives an
indication as to which statements are being
challenged and why. However, the Court declines to
take the drastic step of dismissal based on the form of
the pleading, Instead, the Court joins the approach of
other courts in this district and will attempt to "glean
the complaint,” focusing on those statements that are
in bold and italicized. See In_re Northpoint
Communications Group, Inc., 184 F.Supp.2d 991,
998 (N .D. Cal2001); In re Cornerstone Propane

Partners, L P. Securities Litigation, 355 F.Supp.2d
1069, 1081 (N.D.Cal.2005).

B. Falsity and Scienter

In order to support their claims under the PLSRA,
Plaintiffs must first specify a "statement alleged to
have been misleading.” 15 U.S.C. § 78u4(b}1).
Additionally, in order to avoid having their action
dismissed, Plaintiffs must "plead with particularity
either the alleged misleading stateinents or
scienter[.]" In re Fritz Cos. Sec. Litig., 282 F.Supp.2d

1105, 1112 (N.D. Cal 2003). The Ninth Circuit has
articulated the rule as follows:
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Because falsity and scienter in private securities
fraud cases are generally strongly inferred from the
same set of facts, we have incorporated the dual
pleading requirements of 15 US.C. § § 78u-
4(bY(1) and (bX2) into a single inquiry. In

considering whether a private securities fraud

complaint can survive dismissal under Rule
12(b)(6), we must determine whether particular
facts in the complaint, taken as a whole, raise a
strong inference that defendants intentionally or
[with] deliberaté recklessness made false or
misleading statements to investors, Where

pleadings are not sufficiently particularized or

where, taken as a whole, they do not raise a strong
inference that misleading statements were
knowingly or [with] deliberate recklessness made
to investors, a private securities frand complaint is
properly dismissed under Rule 12(b}(6).
Ronconiv. Larkin, 253 F.3d42 ! ir.200
(citations and internal quotation marks omitted).

Plaintiffs allegations rely primarily upon 1)

Defendants' - statements regarding the purported
successful integration of Crystal Decisions, and 2) |

Defendants' improper recognition of revenue in
financial statements. To satisfy the necessary scienter
requirement, Plaintiffs rely upon confidential witness
statements, stock sales, an SEC investigation, and the
temporal proximity between Defendants’ afleged
misrepresentations and the disclosure of the truth.

1. Crystal Decisions Integration
Plaintiffs allege that Defendants made several

material misrepresentations regarding the acquisition

and integration of Crystal Decisions. However, while
Plaintiffs' complaint contains pages of text from
Defendants' press releases and analyst calls, Plaintiffs
quote only two allegedly false statements in their
briefing to the Cowt. First, on July 18, 2003,
Defendants issued a press release discussing the
complimentary natures of the merging companies'
product lines and its ability to "capitalize on
significant growth opportunities resulting from
complementary products." [FN2] Plaintiffs also note
Defendant Liautaud's statement on October 23 that
"[oJur management had been working closely with
counterparts from Crystal Decisions in a disciplined
process to develop imtegration plans that can be
implemented on closing." Plaintiffs also note that on
October 23, 2003, Defendants' press release stressed

that Enterprise 6 was the absolute key to Business.

Objects pgrowth, and, according to Plaintiffs,

" highlighted that the integration of Crystal Decisions
was progressing smoothly. On December 11, 2003,

© 2005 Thomson/West. No Claim to Orig. U.S. Govt. Works.
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January 8, 2004, and February 5, 2004, Plaintiffs
alege that Defendants issued press releases stating

that the integration of Crystal Dynamics had

progressed smoothly and that Business Objects
would achieve significant growth based on the
companies’ complementary product lines. Plaintiffs
argue that each of the press releases was false
because Defendants knew that serious integration
problems with the companies’ product lines existed,
including the incompatibility of Enterprise 6, and that
it had plans to replace the product with Crystal
Enterprise.

EN2. At oral argument, Plaintiffs indicated
that they no longer rely on this statement in
pressing their complaint.

*5 Defendants argue that Plaintiffs have not alleged

facts demonstrating that the press releases or
Defendant Liautaud's statement were false when
made. Defendants note that the integration effort
involving Crystal Decisions did mot begin until
December 11, 2003, and therefore the Court must
only look to statements made after that time.
Defendants assert that only two statements could
possibly support Plaintiffs' claim: 1) the January 8,
2004 announcement that the two companies' sales,
marketing, professional services, alliances, technical
support organizations, and websites "arc now one";
and 2) the February 5, 2004 press release in which
Defendant Liautaud said he was "pleased” with the
progress of the integration efforts to date.

Plaintiffs respond that the Amended Complaint
adequately details the manner in which Defendants
made material representations regarding the

acquisition and integration of Crystal Decisions.

Plaintiffs rely almost exclusively on the testimony of
its three confidential witnesses. Initially, the
Amended Complaint states that a former Business
Objects Senior Director of Customer Technical
Support, who worked at the company during the
Class Period, knew that customer orders were being
delayed and cancelled because of product integration
problems between Crystal Decisions and Business
Objects. The Amended Complaint also states that a
former Telecommunications Analyst Project
Manager who worked at Crystal Decisions confirmed
that when the acquisition of the two companies was
announced, teams from the two companies were not
allowed to integrate or even share information.
Additionally, the Amended Complaint states that a
former Vice President of Product Strategy of
Business Objects stated that product coordination and
product overlap became an important issue for the
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integrated company.

The Ninth Circuit has warned against the use of
unnamed sources and stated that "[i]t is not sufficient
for a plaintiff's pleadings to set forth a belief that
cerfain unspecified sources will reveal, after
appropriate discovery, facts that will validate her
claim." Silicon Graphics, 183 F.3d at 985. "Instead,

to meet this particularity requirement for personal

sources of information, this circuit has applied the
Second Circuit's standard that personmal sources of

information relied upon in a complaint should be -

described in the complaint with sufficient

particularity to support the probability that a person
in the position occupied by the source would possess
the information alleged." In_re Daou Systems, Inc.

Sec. Litig., 397 F.3d 704, 711 (9th Cir.2005) (internal
quotation marks and citations omitted) {amended and

superseded on denial of rehearing by 411 F.3d 1006
(9th Cir.2005)). "When plaintiffs rely on both
confidential witnesses and on other facts, ‘they need
not name their sources as long as the latter facts
provide an adequate basis for believing that the
defendants' statements were false." ' Jd (quoting
Novak v, Kasaks, 216 F.3d 300, 314 (2d Cir.2000));

see also Silicon Graphics, 183 F.3d at 985 (stating
that the complaint should include "adequate

corroborating details™).

*6 In Dauo Systems, the plaintiffs had numbered
each confidential witness, described his or her job
description and responsibilities, and in some
instances, provided the witnesses' exact title and to
which executive the witnessed reported. 397 F.3d at
711, The Dauo Systems court found that the

specificity of the plaintiffs' descriptions was .

sufficient to met the PSLRA's requirements for
confidential witnesses. Id at 712. ,

Here, the Court finds that the Amended Complaint
has failed to describe the confidential witnesses with

a sufficient degree of specificity. Indeed, unlike in

Dauo Systems, the Amended Complaint provides no
more than the job title of the confidential witnesses.
For example, plaintiffs state the exact job title of their

first confidential witness--the Semior Director of

Customer Technical Support—but fail to provide any
other detail regarding his or her job description and
responsibilities. See Northpoint, 184 F.Supp.2d at
100¢ (finding the confidential-witness statements
insufficient where the description of the confidential
witnesses did not provide their job duties and how the
witnesses learned of the information alleged in the
complaint). Plaintiff treats the other two confidential

witnesses in a similar manner. Moreover, besides the |

© 2005 Thomson/West. No Claim to Orig. U.S. Govt. Works. .
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statements of these three confidential witnesses,
Plaintiffs have offered the Court no corroborating
evidence, such as internal documents or public
filings, to support their assertions of falsity.

However, even if, assuming arguendo, the Court
found that Plaintiffs had described the confidential
witnesses with sufficient specificity, the witness
statements are long on speculation, but short on
relevant detail. The witnesses' conclusory statements
include phrases such as ‘“product integration
problems™ and "customer confusion,” but offer no
_ insight into the pervasiveness of such problems.

Furthermore, the witnesses stitements offer no detail
regarding how_the witnesses learned of the facts in
their statements or how, if at all, Defendants knew
about such facts. In short, these allegations are not
‘pled with sufficient specificity.

2. Financial Staternents

Plaintiffs allege that during the Class Period,
Defendants improperly recognized revenue in
violation of Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles ("GAAP") and other accounting standards,
which made Business Objects' financial statements
false and misleading. In support of these allegations,
Plaintiffs rely primarily upon a confidential witness
statement and the SEC's formal ongoing investigation
into Business Objects’ accounting principles.
Defendants contend that Plaintiffs have failed to
adequately allege that their economic losses were
caused by the allegedly false statements, and in any

event, Plaintiffs have also failed to allege with-

particularity that Business Objects recognized
revenye improperly on account of these practices.

Plaintiffs rely almost exclusively upon an
unspecified former Senior Director's statement that
the Vice President of Business Objects Alliance
Group admitted that some sales were not recorded in
the quarter in which they were made. Plaintiffs also
allege that, in another case, "an employee" met with
"defendant” and Chief Operating Officer John Olsen
to insist that an IBM order be shipped before the end
of the quarter, rather than in the following quarter,
and that Business Objects ended up making the
shipment by the end of the quarter but did not
recognize the revenue wuntil the following quarter.

*7 Defendants respond that the former Senior
Director’s account lacks particularized details
regarding the alleged accounting violations. It is
generally accepted that allegations of violations of
GAAP or SEC regulations, without mor do not
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establish scienter. [n re Worlds of Wonder Sec. Litig.,

35 F.3d 1407, 1426 (9th Cir.1994). Rather, to plead
fraudulent intent based on GAAP violations, |

* plaintiffs must allege facts showing that 1) specific

accounting decisions were improper, and 2) .
defendants knew specific facts at the time that |

‘rendered their accounting determinations fraudulent.

DSAM Global Value Fund v. Aliris Software, Inc, |

288 F.3d 385, 390-91 (9th Cir.2002). Plaintiffs have
not met this standard.

The Senior Director's statement that "some sales
were not recorded in the quarter in which they were |
made” is vague and conclusory, The Court is left to
speculate as to the date, sales quantity, and other
relevant details regarding the transaction. Plaintiffs
allegation regarding the IBM order suffers from the
same flaw. The allegation is unsupported by facts
showing any specifics regarding the transaction, for
example, how this employee learned whether revenue
was recognized on the IBM order, when the revenue
was recognized, and whether the revenue recognition
was improper. See Northpoint, 184 F.Supp.2d at 998
("With accounting fraud, however, the necessary
scienter is in general not established merely by the
publication of inaccurate accounting figures, or
failure to follow generally accepted accounting
principles. More is needed."). Furthermore, Plaintiffs |
fail to plead that Defendants had any knowledge of |
Business Objects' accounting practices, or that such |
practices were improper. In sum, such generic |
allegations of accounting fraud fall woefully short of
sufficiently pleading sciemter with respect to
Defendants' practice of recognizing revenue. '

Moreover, the Court is not persuaded that Plaintiffs'
improper revenue allegations are further evidenced |
by the SEC's formal investigation into Business |
Objects' accounting practices. Plaintiffs assertion that ‘
the SEC's investigation "highlights the risk" that

Business Objects has improperly recognized revenue |
is problematic. Certainly, the existence of a "risk"
that Business Objects has committed GAAP

violations, without more, is insufficient to raise a

“strong inference" of scienter. Plaintiffs have offered |
no case authority to the contrary. ‘

3. Stock Saies

Liautaud to support their allegations of scienter.
Generally, stock sale allegations cannot raise an
inference of scienter unless Plaintiffs allege specific
facts showing that the sales were "dramatically out of

3
Plaintiffs also rely on stock sales by Defendant |
line with prior trading practices at times calculated to
|
|

© 2005 Thomson/West. No Claim to Orig. U.S. Govt. Works.
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maximize the personal benefit from undisclosed
inside information." Silicon Graphics, 183 F.3d at
986. Among the relevant factors for a court to
consider are: 1) the amount-and percentage of shares
sold by insiders; 2) the timing of the sales; and 3)
whether the sales were consistent with the insider's
prior trading history. Id.

*8 Liautaud sold over $6 million of stock during the
class period, roughly 9.7% of his total stockholdings.
Liautaud's sales occurred soon after the Business
Objects's quarterly eamings reports. In light of the
Silicon Graphics factors, these sales are not
sufficiently suspicious to raise an inference of
scienter. To be certain, the fact that Liataud sold

roughly 9.7 of his total stockholdings is not .

particularly powerful evidence of fraud. See Ronconi,
253 F.3d at 435 (suggesting that sales of 10-17% of
holdings was not suspicious). Moreover, the timing
of the stock sales are not everly suspicious and
Plaintiffs have failed to explain how these sales, each
of which occurred after Business Objects announced
carnings results, could raise an inference of
frandulent intent. Additionally, any inference of
scienter is further negated by the fact that neither
Defendant Tolonen nor Defendant Olsen sold any
shares during the Class Period. See Linton v.
Pathogenesis Corp.. 284 F.3d_1027, 1037 (Sth
Cir.2002) (finding that insider sales did not support
an inference of fraud when "only [one defendant] and
not ‘other insiders sold during the class period, and

the sales by [the one defendant] were only a small

part of his total holdings"). Therefore, the Court finds’
that Liautaud's stock sadles do not support an
inference of scienter.

4, Proximity Between False Statements and
Disclosure of the Truth

Plaintiffs argue that the close proximity between
Defendants' misrepresentations and the disclosure of
the truth helps bolster a strong inference of scienter.
Here, Plaintiffs allege that Defendants' statements in
October 2003 through December 2003 regarding the
integration of Crystal Decisions were revealed fo be
fiundamentally incorrect and misleading in Business
Objects’ April 29, 2004 press release. Plaintiffs'
argument fails, as an initial matter, because as
previously noted, Plaintiffs' have not sufficiently
alleged that Business Objects' April 29, 2004 press
release was false or misleading. Moreover, a showing
of "temporal proximity .. without more, is
insufficient to satisfy Rule 9(b)." Yourish v

California Amplifier, 191 F.3d 983, 997 (%th
Cir.1999); see also Ronconi, 253 F.3d at 437 (holding
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that "the five week period between the optimistic
statements and the below-expections earning report is
not enough to sustain the complaint.”). [FN3]

FN3, Plaintiffs' argument that scienter may
also be inferred because Defendants'

allegedly fraudulent c¢onduct concerned '

- Business Objects' core business is similarly

unpersuasive. See In re Read-Rite Corp. Sec.

Litig, 335 F.3d 843, 848 (9th Cir2003) |

(rejecting the notion that a strong inference

of scienter can be presumed from allegations
that relate to a company's core operations).

D. Allegations as a Whole

The Court must consider whether the totality of the
Complaint's allegations, even though individually
lacking, create a strong inference that the individual
Defendants acted with deliberate or conscious
recklessness. No. 84 Employer-Teamster Joint

Council Pension Trust Fund v. America West
Holding Corp.. 320- F.3d 920, 945 (9th Cir.2003)
(holding that the allegations must be considered in
their totality in determining whether plaintiffs have
met the PSLRA standard). To satisfy the Ninth
Circuit's interpretation of the PSLRA, Plaintiffs'
allegations must give rise to a strong inference of

deliberate recklessness, "provid[ing] a list of all’

relevant circumstances in great detail” Silicon
Graphics,_183 F.3d at 974. The complaint here does

no such thing. Even after considering the totality of .

Plaintiffs' allegations, the Court finds that Plaintiffs'
complaint, as present written, is filled with
imprecision and falls woefully short of the Silicon
Graphics standard. Plaintiffs have failed to allege
particularized facts that could lead the Court to infer
that Defendants knowingly misrepresented the details
of Crystal Decision's integration or Business Objects’
revenue reports. Therefore, where, as here, a
securities fraud complaint "requires a laborious
deconstruction and reconstruction of a great web of

« scattered, vague, redundant and often irreleyant

allegations," the spirit and letter of the PSLRA
support dismissal. Wenger v. Lumisys, Inc, 2

E.Supp.2d 1231, 1243 (N.D.Cal.1998). [FN4]

FN4. Since Plaintiffs have not met the
PSLRA pleading standard, thé Court does
not need to decide whether Defendants'

allegedly false statements fall within the safe -

harbor provision under 15 USC. § 78u-
5(c)(1XA) or (B).

E. Loss Causation

© 2005 Thomson/West. No Claim to Orig. U.S. Govt. Works.
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*9 In Dura Pharmaceunticals, Inc. v. Broudo, 125
S.Ct. 1627 (2005), the Supreme Court clarified that
alleging that a misrepresentation caused an inflated
purchase price does not, without more, demonstrate
loss causation. To "touch upon" an economic loss is
insufficient; plaintiffs must demonstrate an actual

causal conoection between the defendant's material .

misrepresentation and the economic loss suffered. Id,
at_1633. This holding reversed the Ninth Circuit's
jurisprudence on the subject which held that a
plaintiff can satisfy the loss causation requirement
simply by alleging that a security's price at the time
of purchase was inflated due to the misrepresentation.

Here, the complaint simply alleges that "Plaintiffs
and the class have suffered damages in that, in
reliance on the integrity of the market, they paid
inflated prices for Business Objects publically traded
securities.” Plaintiffs have not alleged a proximate,
casual  conmection  between the  alleged
misrepresentation and the subsequent decline in their
stock. Therefore, as in Dura, Plaintiffs' allegations
regarding loss causation are insufficient.

F. Rule 20(a)} Liability

Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act provides
derivative liability for those who control others found
to be primarily liable under the Act fn _re Ramp
Networks, Inc. Sec. Lit., 201 F.Supp.2d 1051, 1063
(N.D.Cal.2002). Where a plaintiff asserts a section
20(a) claim based on an underlying violation of
section 10(b), the pleading requirements for both
violations are the same, Id,

Here, Plaintiffs assert that the individual Defendants
are liable under this section because of an underlying
violation of section 10(b). However, because
Plaintiffs have failed to adequately plead the
underlying 10b-5 violation, the section 20(a) claims
must be dismissed as well.

G. Dismissal Without Prejudice

Leave to amend under Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 15 should be liberally granted. "Dismissal
with prejudice and without leave t6 amend is not
appropriate unless it is clear ... that the complaint
could not be saved by amendment" Eminence
Capital v. Aspeon Inc. 316 F.3d 1048, 1053 (9th
Cir.2003) (error to refuse leave to amend in a
securities fraud case to allow plaintiff to plead
scienter). Here, it is possible that Plaintiffs could
remedy their significant pleading defects in an
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amended complaint by adding detailed factual
support for their allegations of false or misleading
statements, and demonstrating that Defendants had
the Tequisite scienter at the time the statements were
made. Accordingly, the Cowrt dismisses the
Amended Complaint. without prejudice. The
Plaintiffs should file an amended complaint within '
thirty (30) days from the date of this Order. |

CONCLUSION
After consideration of the Amended Complaint in
light of the heightened pleading standards of the
PSLRA and the requirements of Federal Rule of Civil 1
Procedure 12(b)(6), the Court GRANTS Defendants’
motion to dismiss with leave to amend.

|
[
*101IT IS SO ORDERED. ’ |
2005 WL 1787860 (N.D.Cal) |

|

END OF DOCUMENT
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United States District Court,
N.D. California.
Thomas O. MORGAN, et al., Plaintiffs,
v.
AXT, INC. and Morris S. Young, Defendants.
No. C 04-4362 M]J, C 05-5106 M]J.

Sept. 23, 2005.

ORDER DISMISSING PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT
WITHOUT PREJUDICE
WHITE, J.

INTRODUCTION
*]1 Before the Court is Defendants’ motion to dismiss this
private securities fraud action. Plaintiff Thomas O. Morgan
("Plaintiff"), [FN1] representing a purported class of all
purchasers of AXT, Inc., stock between February 6, 2001,
and April 27, 2004, opposes the motion. For the following
reasons, the Court GRANTS Defendants' motion to dismiss,
but GRANTS Plaintiff leave to amend.

ENL1. In an Order dated February 2, 2005, the Court
granted Plaintiff Morgan's motion for appointment
as lead plaintiff.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND
A. Background

Defendant AXT, Inc.'s ("AXT" or the "Company") is a
publicly-traded company that manufactures semiconductor
parts, known as substrates, used by a variety of electronic
products  including  wireless and  fiber  optic
telecommunciations, lasers, light emitting diodes, satellite
solar cells, and consumer electronics such as cell phones.
AXT sells compound semiconductor non-silicon substrates
manufactured from gallium arsenide, indium phosphide, and
germanium. AXT employs its proprietary Vertical Gradient
Freeze method for manufacturing the non-silicon substrates.
During the period of time at issue in the instant lawsuit
(February 6, 2001, through April 27, 2004 (the "Class
Period")), AXT also produced and sold light-emitting diodes
("LEDs") and vertical cavity surface emitting laser chips
through its opto-electronic division. AXT sold its products

to original equipment manufacturers ("OEMs"). The
particular testing required and characteristics of those AXT
products were determined by the OEMs. Defendant Dr.
Morris S. Young ("Defendant Young") served |as the
Company's CEO and Chairman of the Board during the
Class Period.

On February 6, 2001, AXT issued a press release rejpoﬂing
the Company's strong commitment to its customers and
touting AXT's customers' confidence in AXT. Th‘e press
release referenced the Company's "supply of high quality
substrates” and reported that AXT was "pleased to support
[its] strategic customers' substrate requirements for the year
and believe[d] that the value of the contracts under thfe]
[Supply Guarantee Program] is a good indicator of [[AXT's]
ability to deliver continued revenue and profit expansion ."

(Complaint ("Comp."), { 31.)

On February 26, 2001, the Company filed its annual report
for FY 2000 on Form 10-K with the SEC. The 10-K stated:
"We believe that our success is partially due [to our
manufacturing efficiency and high product yields and we
continually emphasize quality and process |control
throughout our manufacturing operations.” The 10:K -also
explained that AXT's policy was to recognize revenue when

-its products were shipped to the customer as long as, inter

alia, there are no customer acceptance requirements|and no
remaining significant obligations. (/d., ] 32.)

On April 25, 2001, AXT issued a press release announcing
its financial results for the first quarter of 2001. The
Company reported that revenue was up a record $40.1
million and that net income was up $5 million. In tﬂe press
release, AXT expressed its belief that its products’ "strong
engineering design and development capability | allows
[AXT] to tailor [its] standard products to meet customer

oo . . \
specific requirements and gives

[AXT] competitive
advantages.” (Comp., { 33.) On May 3, 2001, AXT flled its
quarterly report on Form 10-Q with the SEC, reaffirming
the Company's previously announced financial results for
the first quarter of 2001.

*2 On July 25, 2001, AXT issued a press irclease
announcing its financial results for the second quarter of

2001. The Company reported that revenue reached a record
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$41.3 million and that net income was up $5.2 million. On
August 1, 2001, AXT filed its quarterly report on Form
10-Q with the SEC, reaffirming the Company's previously
announced financial results for the second quarter of 2001.

On October 24, 2001, AXT issued a press release
announcing its financial results for the third quarter of 2001.
The Company announced that reported net losses for the
quarter but stated that "strategic research and development
mvestments are positioning AXT well for continued
leadership” and that the Company's "VFG gallium arsenide
and indium phosphide substrates continue to offer superior
features for manufacturers of high quality electronic and
opto-electronic devices.” The press release went on to say
that AXT "believe[s] that [it] remain[s] the world leader in
providing both products.” (Comp., { 38.) On November 7,
2001, AXT filed its quarterly report on Form 10-Q with the
SEC, reaffirming the Company's previously announced
financial results for the third quarter of 2001.

On February 6, 2002, AXT issued a press release
announcing its financial results for the fourth quarter of
2001 and for FY 2001. The Company again reported that its
specialized substrates "continue to offer superior features
for manufacturers of high quality electronic and
opto-electronic devices" and that the Company "expect[ed]
an increasing number of key customers to recognize the
superiority of [AXT's] technology in the future.” (Id., 40.)
On March 26, 2002, AXT filed its Form 10-K annual report
with the SEC, reaffirming the Company's previously
announced financial results for the fourth quarter and for FY
2001, and including the same description of AXT's revenue
recognition policy described in its FY 2000 annual report.

On April 24, 2002, AXT issued a press release announcing
its financial results for the first quarter of 2002. The
Company reported net losses for the quarter but stated that
its reputation for LED quality, value, and delivery was
growing. On May 3, 2002, AXT filed its quarterly report on
Form 10-Q with the SEC, reaffirming the Company's
previously announced financial results for the first quarter
of 2002.

On July 24, 2002, AXT issued a press release announcing
its financial results for the second quarter of 2002. The

© 2005 Thomson/West. No Claim to Orig. U.S. Govt. Works.
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Company reported that revenue increased 14 % and stated,

"We are particularly pleased with the growth of 01‘1r LED

division, which has recorded double digit revenue |growth
for the past three quarters, efficiently irﬂcreased

manufacturing capacity to sustain this growth, in‘nproved
growth margins, and approached overall profitability.” On

August 15, 2002, AXT filed its quarterly report o‘n Form

10-Q with the SEC, reaffirming the Company's pre‘viously

announced financial results for the second quarter o‘f 2002.

Defendant Young also filed a certification pursuan‘ to the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act that the "information containe‘ in the
Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial

condition and result of operations of the Company."

*3 On October 23, 2002, AXT issued a press release
announcing its financial results for the third quarter of 2002.
The Company reported that "AXT will continue to‘ benefit
from the strength of our technology." (Comp.,  48.) On

November 12, 2002, AXT filed its quarterly report o‘n Form

10-Q with the SEC, reaffirming the Company's préviously
announced financial results for the third quarter of 2002.
The Form 10-Q also stated that, "Based on their eva‘luation,
our principal executive officer and principal financial officer
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are

effective."

On February 5, 2003, AXT issued a press |release
announcing its financial results for the fourth quarter of
2002 and for FY 2002. On March 21, 2003, AXT filed its
Form 10-K annual report with the SEC. In the 10-K, the
Company stated, "the lives of our substrate products are
relatively long and accordingly, obsolescence has
historically not been a significant factor." The Company
again described its revenue recognition policy, as it had in
its 2000 and 2001 annual reports. The 10-K also contained a
certification, pursuant to the requirements of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act, averring that the report "does not
contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state
a material fact” and that the financial statements” fairly
present in all material respects the financial condiﬁon" of
the Company. :

|

On April 23, 2003, AXT issued a press release announcing
its financial results for the first quarter of 2003. The
Company reported net losses for the quarter. On May 9,
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2003, AXT filed its quarterly report on Form 10-Q with the
SEC, reaffirming the Company's previously announced
financial results for the first quarter of 2003. The 10-Q
reported certified that the Company's "disclosure controls
and procedures are effective.”

On July 23, 2003, AXT issued a press release announcing
lits financial results for the second quarter of 2004. The
Company reported net losses. On August 12, 2003, AXT
filed its quarterly report on Form 10-Q with the SEC,
reaffirming the Company's previously announced financial
results for the second quarter of 2003. The 10-Q again
icontained a certification regarding disclosure controls and
Procedures as the May 10-Q had.

iOn October 22, 2003, AXT issued a press release
announcing its financial results for the third quarter of 2003.
The Company again reported net losses. On November 13,
2003, AXT filed its quarterly report on Form 10-Q with the
SEC, reaffirming the Company's previously announced
ffinancial results for the third quarter of 2003, and conta.inihg
certifications regarding the Company's disclosure controls
and procedures.

On . February 4, 2004, AXT issued a press release
announcing its financial results for the fourth quarter of
2003 and for FY 2003. On March 29, 2004, AXT filed its
Form 10-K annual report with the SEC. The 10-K certified
that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures were
effective and that the report comtained no "untrue
statement[s] of material fact" and did not "omit to state a
material fact" and that the financial statements" fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition” of
the Company.

*4 On April 27, 2004, AXT issued a press release revealing
that the "first quarter's financial review and verification
process ha[d] been delayed due to an investigation by
AXT's Audit Committee of certain product testing practices
and policies." (Comp., [ 64.) The next day, AXT stock
dropped by 13.64%. A day later, AXT's stock dropped
further, by nearly 23%, to close at $2.20 per share.

On May 24, 2004, AXT filed its quarterly report on Form
10-Q with the SEC, announcing that AXT had "not followed
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requirements for testing of products and provision of testing
data and information relating to customer requirements for
certain shipments made over the past several year‘s." The
10-Q reported that AXT then increased its reserve ff)r sales
returns by $745,000, and recorded a $2.1 million charge for
obsolete inventory manufactured in the previous t}vvo and
three years because the specifications of its ‘roducts
differed from customer orders. AXT also announced that it
had reassigned its CEO and Chairman of the} Board,
Defendant Young to head up AXT's China unit, and had
replaced the  Company's  independent ‘ ‘auditor,
PriceWaterhouseCoopers ("PwC"). (Comp., f 65- ?8, 70.)
Plaintiff Morgan subsequently filed the instant lawsuit,
[EN2] claiming that he and other members of the p‘roposcd
class who purchased shares of AXT stock between Eebruary
6, 2001, and April 27, 2004, were injured becau‘se they
bought AXT stock at artificially-inflated prices| which
plummeted when the Company disclosed to the public the
internal investigation into its practices.

EN2. Two separate lawsuits were bro ‘ght by
investors in AXT stock against AXT and
Defendant Young: (1) City of Harper | Woods
Employees Retirement Sys. v. AXT, Inc., 04-04362
M1J1J, filed on October 15, 2004; and (2) Robertson

v. AXT, Inc., 04-05106 MI]J, filed on Dece‘mber 2,

2004. In its February 2, 2005, Order, the‘: Court
granted Plaintiff Morgan's motion to conLolidate

the lawsuits.

\
B. The Complaint ‘

In his Consolidated Complaint for Violations of the ‘Federal
Securities Laws (hereinafter, the "Complaint"), Plaintiff
alleges that AXT and Defendant Young, AXT's|former
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, violated §§ 10(b)
and 20(a) of the Securities and Exchange Act qf 1934
("Exchange Act"), 15 U.S.C. §§ 78j(b) and 78(t)a, and
Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") Rulé 10b-5,
17 CER § 240.10b-3. According to Plaintiff, d i g the
Class Period, Defendants knowingly shipped prod cts that
did not conform to customer testing requirements or
specifications. Plaintiff alleges that Defendants failed to
properly account for products that were defective clr could

not be sold by improperly recognizing revenue on those
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sales even though Defendants knew the products would be
" returned and failing to accrue adequate reserves. Plaintiff
claims that Defendants violated the securities laws by
knowingly issuing false or misleading statements about
AXT's reserves, revenue, and income (hereinafter, the
"financial statements"), and by knowingly issuing false or
misleading statements touting the quality of AXT's products
and AXT's ability to meet customer requirements
(hereinafter, the "quality statements").

In his Complaint, Plaintiff alleges that his claims are
supported by the statements of three confidential
witnesses—a Quality Technician who used to work for AXT,
a former AXT Corporate Vice President, and a former tester
of returned AXT products. [FN3] The former Quality
Technician allegedly confirmed that the Company
knowingly shipped to customers products that did not meet
customer specifications, that the Company was aware that
the products would be returned, and that almost every
shipment was, in fact, returned. Specifically, the technician
said that when AXT conducted specification checks on its
LED wafers for wavelength, luminosity, vision, and current,
the wafers never met all the specifications. The former tester
of returned AXT products allegedly confirmed that the
passivation layer (the top protective layer) on AXT's LEDs
was consistently weak, making the LEDs easily and
irreparably damaged. The tester allegedly said that AXT
knew this was a problem and lacked adequate product
testing equipment. The former Corporate Vice President
allegedly confirmed that AXT failed to perform full testing
of its products and lacked the right equipment for testing.
(Comp., 4 78-80.) ’

EN3. In his Complaint, Plaintiff does not allege
that the third confidential witness—-the tester of
returned AXT products--was ever an AXT
employee. In his oppesition to the instant motion,
however, Plaintiff describes this witness as a
former AXT employee.

*5 Plaintiff alleges that during the Class Period, Defendants
reported that one of the Company's larger customers,
Agilent, had canceled its orders with AXT because AXT
was shipping products that did not conform to Agilent's
specifications. Defendants characterized the shipping of

© 2005 Thomson/West. No Claim to Orig. U.S. Govt. Works.
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out-of-spec products as a one-time event even though,

according to Plaintiff, AXT had shipped products t{hat did

not meet customer specifications to many of its customers.
d., 186,

On May 20, 2005, Defendants filed the instant m$ﬁon to
dismiss pursuant to the Private Securities Litigation Refom
Act of 1995 ("PSLRA"), and Rules 9(b) and 12(b)(6) of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, on the grounHS that
Plaintiff has failed to plead his allegations with s&fﬁcient
particularity. |

|
|
LEGAL STANDARD |
A. Federal Rules of Civil Procedure |

A court may dismiss a complaint pursuant to Federal Rule
of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) for the pleading of insufficient
facts under an adequate theory. Robertson v. Dean‘ Witter
Reynolds, Inc., 749 F.2d 530, 533-34 (9th Cir.1984). When
deciding upon a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule
12(b)(6), a court must take all of the material allegations in
the plaintiff's complaint as true, and construe them in the
light most favorable to the plaintiff. Parks School of

Business, _Inc. v. Symington. 51 F.3d 1480, 1484 (9th
Cir.1995).

In the context of a motion to dismiss, review is limited to
the contents in the complaint. Allarcom Pay Television, Ltd.
v. General Instrument Corp.. 69 F.3d 381, 385 (9th
Cir.1995). When matters outside the pleading are presented
to and accepted by the court, the motion to dismiss is
converted into one for summary judgment. However,
matters properly presented to the court, such as those
attached to the complaint and incorporated within its
allegations, may be considered as part of the motion to
dismiss. See Hal Roach Studios, Inc. v. Richard Feiner &
Co.. 896 F.2d 1542, 1555 n. 19_(9th Cir.1989). Where a
plaintiff fails to attach to the complaint documents referred
to therein, and upon which the complaint is premised, a
defendant may attach to the motion to dismiss such
documents in order to show that they do not support the
plaintiff's claim. See Pacific Gateway Exchange, 169
F.Supp.2d at 1164; Branch v. Tunnell, 14 F.3d 449.144 (9th
Cir.1994) (overruled on other grounds). Thus, the|district
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court may consider the full texts of documents that the
complaint only quotes in part. See In re Stay Electronics
Sec. Lir., 89 F.3d 1399, 1405 n. 4 (1996), cert denied, 520
U.S. 1103 (1997). This rule precludes plaintiffs "from
surviving a Rule 12(b)(6) motion by deliberately omitting
references to documents upon which their claims are based.”
Parrino v. FHP, Inc., 146 F.3d 699, 705 (9th Cir.1998).

Rule 8(a) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure requires

only "a short and plain statement of the claim showing that
the pleader is entitled to relief.” Accordingly, motions to
dismiss for failure to state a claim pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6)
are typically disfavored; complaints are construed liberally
to set forth some basis for relief, as long as they provide
basic notice to the defendants of the charges against them.
In re McKesson HBOC, Inc. Sec. Litig., 126 F.Supp. 1248,
1257 (N.D.Cal.2000). Where a plaintiff alleges fraud,
however, Rule 9(b) requires the plaintiff to state with
particularity the circumstances constituting frand. To meet
the heightened pleading requirements of Rule 9(b), the
Ninth Circuit has held that a fraud claim must contain three
elements: (1) the time, place, and content of the alleged
misrepresentations; and (2) an explanation as to why the
statement or omission complained of was false or
misleading. In re GlenFed, Inc. Sec. Litig.. 42 F.3d 1541,
1547-49 (9th Cir.1994).

*6 In the securities context, the pleading requirements are
even more stringent.

B. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act

In 1995, Congress enacted the PSLRA to provide
"protections to discourage frivolous [securities] litigation.”
H.R. Conf. Rep. No. 104-369, 104th Cong., 1st Sess. at 32
(Nov. 28, 1995). The PSLRA strengthened the
already-heightened pleading requirements of Rule 9(b).
Under the PSLRA, actions based on allegations of material
misstatements or omissions must "specify each statement
alleged to have been misleading, the reason or reasons why
the statement is misleading, and, if an allegation regarding
the statement or omission is made on information and belief,
the complaint shall state with particularity all facts on which
that belief is formed." 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(1).

© 2005 Thomson/West. No Claim to Orig. U.S. Govt. Works.

The PSLRA also heightened the pleading threshold for

causes of action brought under Section 10(b) an‘d Rule

10b-5. Specifically, the PSLRA imposed strict requj}ements ’

for pleading scienter. Under the PSLRA, a complai‘nt must
"state with particularity facts giving rise to a| strong
inference that the defendant acted with the required state of
mind." 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(2). The Ninth Circuit, in
interpreting the PSLRA, has held that "a private se}curities
plaintiff proceeding under the [PSLRA] must plead, in great
detail, facts that constitute strong circumstantial evidence of
deliberately reckless or conscious misconduct.” In rel Silicon
Graphics Inc., 183 F.3d 970. 974 (9th Cir.1999)] If the
complaint does not satisfy the pleading requirements of the
PSLRA, upon motion by the defendant, the court must

dismiss the complaint. See 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(1).

The PSLRA's Safe Harbor provision provides that a
securities fraud claim may not lie with respect to a statement
that is "identified as a forward-looking statement, and is
accompanied by meaningful cautionary statements
identifying important factors that could cause actual results
to differ materially from those in the forward-looking
statement." 15 U.S.C. § 78u-5(c)(1)(AYT). However, a
person may be held liable if the forward-looking statement
is made with "actual knowledge ... that the statement was
false or misleading." 15 U.S.C. § 78u-5(c)(1)(B); |No. 84
Emplover-Teamster Joint Council Pension Trust Fund v.
America West Holding Corp.. 320 F.3d 920, 936_(9th
Cir.2003); but see In re Seebevond Technologies Corp. Sec.
Lirig., 266 F.Supp.2d 1150, 1164-65 (C.D.Cal.2003)
(disagreeing with the analysis in America West and finding
that a defendant is immune from liability if it satisfies either
15U.S.C. § 78u5(c)(1)(A) or (B)).

ANALYSIS
I. Request For Judicial Notice

As a threshold matter, the Court addresses Defendants’
request that the Court take judicial notice of thirteen
separate documents, eleven of which are expressly
referenced in Plaintiff's Complaint and two of which are not.
Plaintiff does not object to Defendants' request.

A. Documents Referenced in Complaint
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*7 Defendants ask the Court to judicially notice the
following documents incorporated by reference in Plaintiff's
Complaint: AXT's 10-Ks for the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2000, December 31, 2002, and December 31,
2003; five AXT press releases, respectively dated February
6, 2002, October 23, 2002, February 5, 2003, April 23,
2003, and February 4, 2004; AXT's 10-Qs for the quarters
ended June 30, 2003, and September 30, 2003; and AXT's
Current Report on SEC Form 8-K, filed on June 24, 2004.
These documents are attached to the Declaration of David
Banie as Exhibits A--K.

Federal Rule of Evidence 201 allows a court to take judicial
notice of a fact "not subject to reasonable dispute in that it is
... capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to
sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned.”
Even where judicial notice is not appropriate, courts may
also properly consider documents "whose contents are
alleged in a complaint and whose authenticity no party
questions, but which "are not physically attached to the
[plaintiff's] pleadings." Branch v. Tunnel, 14 F.3d 449, 454

(9th Cir.1994).

Here, each of the documents described above is explicitly
incorporated by reference in Plaintiffs Complaint. (See
Complaint, ] 32, 40, 48, 50, 51, 54, 57, 59, 60, 61, 71.)
Moreover, the documents are press releases and SEC filings,
both of which are judicially noticeable in this context. See
In_re Homestore.com, Inc. Sec. Litig., 347 F.Supp.2d 814,
817 (N.D.Cal.2004) (the court may take judicial notice of
press releases); In_re Calpine Corp. Sec. Litig., 288
F.Supp.2d 1054, 1076 (N.D.Cal.2003) (the court may take
judicial notice of public filings). Accordingly, the Court
GRANTS Defendants’ request and takes judicial notice of
Exhibits A--K to the Banie Declaration.

B. Documents Not Referenced in Complaint
1. Exhibit L--SEC Form 4 filed by Defendant Young

Defendants ask the Court to take judicial notice of SEC
Forms 4 filed on behalf of Defendant Young. These
documents are attached to the Banie Declaration as Exhibit
L. "In a securities action, a court may take judicial notice of
public filings when adjudicating a motion to dismiss...."
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Culpine, 288 F.Supp.2d at 1076. The SEC Forms 4 at issue
here are publicly-available documents filed with the SEC.
Accordingly, the Court takes judicial notice of the
documents attached as Exhibit L to the Banie Declaration.

[EN4]

EN4. Defendants also contend that Exhibit L
should be judicially noticed for two| other
independent reasons. First, the C01inp1aint
references Defendant Young's sale of 2‘00,000
shares of AXT stock during the Class Period.
According to Defendants, this is information that
Plaintiff could only have obtained from reviewing
Young's Forms 4, such that the documents are
incorporated by implicit reference in the Complaint

and should be judicially noticed. Secorid, the

Forms 4 are central to Plaintiff's allegatic{m that
Defendant Young's Class Period stock sales are
probative of scienter, and should be jucllicially
noticed on that ground. Having already determined
that the Forms 4 should be judicially noticed on the
ground that they are public documents, the Court
declines to address Defendants' separate grounds

for judicial notice.

2. Exhibit M--AXT's Closing Stock Prices From February 6,
2001, Through April 29, 2004

Defendants also urge the Court to take judicial notice of
documents reflecting AXT's closing stock prices during the
Class Period. These documents are attached to the Banie
Declaration as Exhibit M. In the context of a motion to
dismiss a securities private fraud action, a court may take
judicial notice of a company's public stock |prices.

Homestore.com, 347 F.Supp.2d at 816. Accordingly, the
Court takes judicial notice of these documents.

II. Motion to Dismiss

*§ Defendants contend that Plaintiff's Complaint should be
dismissed because Plaintiff fails to satisfy the heightened
pleading requirements under the PSLRA, fails to state a
claim under Rule 12(b)(6), and fails to plead fraud with the
particularity required by Rule 9(b). The Court examines
Plaintiff's two claims separately.
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A. Plaintiff's First Cause of Action—Violation of Section
10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5

Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act (the "Act")
. provides, in paﬁ, that it is unlawful "to use or employ in
connection with the purchase or sale of any security
registered on a national securities exchange or any security
not so registered, any manipulative or deceptive device or
contrivance in contravention of such rules and regulations as
the [SEC] may prescribe.” 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b). Rule 10b-5,
promulgated under Section 10(b), makes it unlawful for any
person to use interstate commerce: (a) to employ any
device, scheme, or artifice to defraud; (b) to make any
untrue statement of material fact or to omit to state a

material fact necessary in order to make the statements

made, in the light of the circumstances under which they
were made, not misleading; or (c) to engage in any act,
practice, or course of business which operates or would
operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person, in connection
with the purchase or sale of any security. 17 CER. §
240.10b-5.

For a claim under Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 to be
actionable, a plaintiff must allege: (1) a misrepresentation or
omission; (2) of material fact; (3) made with scienter; (4) on
which the plaintiff justifiably relied; (5) that proximately
caused the alleged loss. See Binder v. Gillespie. 184 F.3d
1059, 1063 (9th Cir.1999). A complaint must "specify each
statement alleged to have been misleading, the reason or
reasons why the statement is misleading, and, if an
allegation regarding the statement or omission is made on
information and belief, the complaint shall state with
particularity all facts on which that belief is formed." 15
U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(2). As discussed above, in order to avoid
having the action dismissed, a plaintiff must "plead with
particularity both falsity and scienter." Ronconi v. Larkin,
253 F.3d 423, 429 (9th Cir.2001). The Ninth Circuit, in
Ronconi, articulated the rule as follows:
Because falsity and scienter in private securities frand
cases are generally strongly inferred from the same set of
facts, we have incorporated the dual pleading
requirements of 15 U.S.C. §§ 78u-4(b)(1) and (h)(2) into
a single inquiry. In considering whether a private
securities fraud complaint can survive dismissal under
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Rule 12(b)(6), we must determine whether 'particular
facts in the complaint, taken as a whole, raise a strong
inference that defendants intentionally or | [with]
'deliberate recklessness' made false or misleading
statements to investors.” Where pleadings are not
sufficiently particularized or where, taken as a |whole,
they do not raise a 'strong inference' that misleading
statements were knowingly or [with] deliberate
recklessness made to investors, a private securitief fraud
complaint is properly dismissed under Rule 12(b)(6).

*9 [d. (citations and internal quotation marks omitted:).

Here, Plaintiff alleges that statements or omissions
attributable to Defendant AXT and Defendant Young were

false and misleading and that Defendants knew the

statements were false and misleading at the ti! e the

statements were made. The statements at issue can be

separated into two general categories: (1) statements ‘rcouting

the quality of AXT's products and the Company's a‘t‘)ility to

meet customer specifications; and (2) AXT's ﬁ‘na.ncial

statements. With respect to both categories of statéments,

Defendants contend that Plaintiff has failed to ple‘:ad the

falsity of the statements with sufficient particularity e‘md has
failed to plead facts that, if true, would raise a|strong
inference that Defendants acted with scienter. Additionally,
Defendants assert that Plaintiff has failed to adeiluately
plead loss causation pursuant to the Supreme Court'  recent
holding in Dura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. v. Broudo, 125

S.Ct. 1627 (2005).

1. FALSITY and SCIENTER

a. Quality Statements

Plaintiff alleges that Defendants made false or misleading
statements regarding the quality of its products throughout
the Class Period. Specifically, Plaintiff takes issue with the
statements contained in various press releases |issued
between February 6, 2001, and April 27, 2004, in| which
Defendants reported that its products were of high quality,
incorporated strong engineering design, had competitive
advantage, contained superior features, and met customers'’
specific requirements. To support his claim that the quality
statements were knowingly false or misleading, Plaintiff
relies on AXT's May 24, 2004, press release disclosing that
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the Company had "not followed requirements for testing of
products and provision of testing data and information
relating to customer requirements for certain shipments
made over the past several years," and on the Company's
subsequent decisions to reassign its CEO, to increase its
reserve for sales returns by $745,000, and to record a $2.1
million charge for obsolete inventory manufactured in the
prior two and three years. Plaintiff construes AXT's May
2004 statements and conduct as an admission by Defendants
that the quality statements were knowingly false when
made. Plaintiff also relies on the statements of the former
AXT Quality Technician, the former AXT Corporate Vice
President, and the former tester of returned AXT products
(collectively, the "witnesses") to support falsity and scienter.
Finally, Plaintiff claims that the fact that Agilent, one of
AXT's customers, canceled its orders for AXT substrates
during the Class Period corroborates the witness statements
and Plaintiff's claims that the quality statements were
knowingly false.

Defendants contend that the product quality statements
were, at most, mere puffery, and are not actionable. In the
alternative, Defendants argue that Plaintiff has not pled
sufficiently particularized facts that the statements were
false or misleading when made nor has Plaintiff pled facts
that raise a strong inference of scienter. The Court addresses
each of Defendants' arguments in turn.

i. Puffery

*10 "General statements of optimism and ‘puffing’ about a
company or product are not actionable." In re Foundry
Networks, Inc. Sec. Lirig., 2003 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 18200,
*47 (N.D. Cal. Aug 29, 2003) (citation omitted). "Vague,
amorphous statements, like 'soft forecasts' which are 'mere
puffery,’ are inactionable because reasonable investors do
not consider 'soft' statements or loose predictions important
in making investment decisions." Id. (citation omitted). "No
matter how untrue a statement may be, it is not actionable if
it is not the type of statement that would significantly alter
the total mix of information available to investors.” Id.
(citing In_re_ Apple Computer, Inc. Sec. Litig ., 243
F.Supp.2d 1012, 1025 (N.D.Cal.2002)). In Foundry
Networks, at issue was the company's statement that its
"business remains on track.” The court held that the
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statement was inactionable puffery because the statement
was merely a very general statement of optimism about the
company's financial prospects, something that reasonable
investors would not rely on when making investment
decisions. In No. 84 Emplover-Teamster Joint Council
Pension Trust Fund v. Am. W. Holding Corp., 320 F.3d 920
(9th Cir.2003) ("America West" ), however, the |Ninth
Circuit found statements at issue were not inactionable
puffery. Specifically, the court held that "[a] reasonable
investor would find significant the information regarding a
company's deferred maintenance costs, unsafe maintenance
practices, and possible sanction" because "a reasonable
investor would consider the potential effects of each of these
facts on the overall economic health of the company as
'significantly altering' the 'total mix' of information made
available." Id. at 935; see also Scritchfield v. Paolo, 274
E.Supp.2d 163. 175 (D.R.1.2003) (statement that company
was the " 'premier provider of high-speed DSL services in
the Northeast corridor ... is much more than mere puffery; it
is a statement of [the company's] present status and
capabilities, and connotes that [the company] is
comparatively superior")).

The lion's share of the statements at issue bere appear to
more closely resemble the statements at issue in America
West or Scritchfield than those at issue in Foundry
Networks. For example, statements touting the superiority of
AXT's specific products, such as the October 24, 2001,
press release described in paragraph 38 of the Complaint, in
which AXT reported that the Company's "VGF gallium
arsenide and indium phosphide substrates continue to offer
superior features for manufacturers of high quality
electronic and opto-electronic devices" are fa‘r less
generalized than the statements the Foundry Networks court
determined were inactionable. Such statements strike the
Court as information that an investor would consider when
making investment decisions. However, to make guch a
determination would require the Court to make ‘factual
findings which, at this stage in the litigation, would jnot be
appropriate. Accordingly, the Court finds that whether the
quality statements at issue here are actionable as material

statements is a question for another day.

ii. Falsity and Scienter Not Sufficiently Pled
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*11 Assuming, arguendo, that the quality statements at
issue were not mere puffery and are actionable as material
statements or omissions, the Court now turns to the question
of whether Plaintiff has alleged sufficiently particularized
facts to support his claim that the quality statements were
false or misleading, and whether Plaintiff has alleged facts
that raise a strong inference of scienter, to survive
Defendants' motion to dismiss.

Plaintiff primarily relies on AXT's post-Class Period (May
2004) disclosure and the statements of three confidential
witnesses to support his claim that the product quality
statements were false or misleading: and that Defendants
knew those statements were false and misleading when
made. Plaintiff also alleges that Agilent's cancellation of its
order of AXT products during the Class Period supports his
claims of falsity and scienter. Additionally, Plaintiff alleges
that Defendant Young's sale of stock during the Class
Period supports an strong inference of scienter. For the
following reasons, the Court finds that the facts, as pled, are
insufficiently particularized to support Plaintiff's claim that
the quality statements violated federal securities laws.

(a) Witness Statements [FINS]

ENS. For purposes of this analysis, the Court
assumes that the witnesses' purported statements
are true since, at this stage in the proceedings, the
Court must view all facts in the light most
favorable to Plaintiff.

According to Plaintiff, the former Quality Technician
allegedly confirmed that the Company knowingly shipped
to customers products that did not meet customer
specifications, that the Company was aware that the
products would be returned, and that almost every shipment
was, in fact, returned. Specifically, the technician said that
when AXT conducted specification checks on its wafers for
various criteria, the wafers never met all the specifications.
The former tester of returned AXT products allegedly
confirmed that the passivation layer (the top protective
layer) on AXT's LEDs was consistently weak, making the
LEDs easily and irreparably damaged. The tester allegedly
said that AXT knew this was a problem and lacked adequate
product testing equipment. The former Corporate Vice

© 2005 Thomson/West. No Claim to Orig. U.S. Govt. Works.

Page 9

President allegedly confirmed that AXT failed to perform
full testing of its products and lacked the right equipment
for testing. (Comp., Jj| 78-80.) These statements, as
currently pled, are insufficient to satisfy create a sufficient
factual predicate for Plaintiff's claims under the PSLRA.
First, Plaintiffs' Complaint fails to explain how any of the
witnesses would have personal and firsthand knowfedge of
the facts they allege to be true. See In re Daou Sys.. Inc. Sec.
Litig., 411 F.3d 1006, (9th Cir.2005) (confidential |sources
must be described "with sufficient particularity to [support
the probability that a person in the position occupied by the
source would possess the information alleged'). For
example, Plaintiff does not explain the job responsibilities
of the Quality Technician and how he or she would know
about the number or proportion of returns of| AXT's
products. Second, the Complaint fails to point to any
specific data to support the witnesses' contentions that
AXT's products were being returned. Third, the Complaint
does not sufficiently describe the timing of the witnesses'
observations and conclusions. Finally, assuming, as the
Court must, that the witnesses' statements are true and
AXT's products were consistently not being tested, did not
meet customer specifications, and were regularly being
returned to the Company, the Complaint alleges no facts
that would allow the Court to infer that Defendants were

- aware of these facts. The Compldint does not allege any

process by which upper management, presumably in charge
of issuing or approving press releases, would ha!e been
aware of product returns or testing practices |at the
manufacturing level, much less how each of these particular
confidential witnesses was connected with Defend ‘ts such
that they had contemporaneous knowledge of what AXT
and Defendant Young knew. Accordingly, the witness
statements are insufficient, as currently pled, to [support

falsity and scienter here.
(b) AXT's Post-Class Period Statements and Conduct

*12 Plaintiff contends that AXT's MaS/ 24, 2004, disclosure
notifying the public that AXT had "not followed
requirements for testing of products and provision of testing
data and information relating to customer requirements for
certain shipments made over the past several years" supports
his contention that the quality statements issued during the
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Class Period were false and misleading and that Defendants
were aware the statements were false and misleading. The
Court disagrees.

The May 2004 disclosure does not say that every shipment
of every AXT product was non-conforming such that it can
be considered an admission that AXT's Class Period
statements regarding the quality of its products are rendered
false and misleading. Even if the May 2004 statement
admits that some of AXT's products did not conform to
customer specifications, the statements at issue could still
have been true in that the Company only claimed that its
products were competitive and that its products' design was
strong. Moreover, even assuming the statements were false
or misleading, the post-Class Period disclosure does not
raise a strong inference of scienter here. The fact that the
Company admitted, after the Class Period, that it had failed
to follow testing requirements on "certain shipments," is
insufficient to raise a strong inference that Defendants
k;new, at the time the quality statements were made, that the
stateruents were false or misleading.

(c) Agilent Cancels Orders

Plaintiff alleges that during the Class Period, Defendants
disclosed that one of AXT's larger customers, Agilent, had
canceled its orders for AXT products because AXT was
shipping products that did not conform to Agilent's
specifications. Plaintiff contends that this corroborates his
contention (and the confidential witness statements) that
AXT was aware that it was shipping non-conforming
products to its customers such that the statements it issued
during the Class Period regarding the quality of its products
and its competitive position in the marketplace were
knowingly false and misleading. Plaintiff also contends that
Defendants were aware that the problems with the Agilent
shipments were not unique such that its statement to the
contrary was false and misleading. Plaintiff has failed to
allege any facts that support a finding that Defendants knew
that the non-conforming Agilent shipments were part of a
widespread quality problem with AXT products.
Accordingly, the Court finds that the fact that Agilent
canceled its orders with AXT is insufficient to demonstrate
that the quality statements were knowingly false when
made.
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(d) Defendant Young's Stock Sales

Plaintiff also relies on the stock sales of Defendant Young
as an indication of Defendants' scienter with respect] to the
quality statements. Generally, stock sale allegations |cannot
raise an inference of scienter unless the plaintiff alleges
specific facts showing that the sales were "dramatically out
of line with prior trading practices at times calculated to
maximize the personal benefit from undisclosed |inside
information." Silicon Graphics, 183 F.3d at 986. Among the

relevant factors for a court to consider are: 1) the a‘.mount

and percentage of shares sold by insiders; 2) the ti . g of
the sales; and 3) whether the sales were consistent with the

insider's prior trading history. Id.

*13 Here, Plaintiff alleges that Defendant Young sold‘ a total

of more than 200,000 shares of his personally-hel? AXT

stock during the Class Period for gross proce?ds of
approximately $2.2 million. (Comp. at § 91.) Plaintiff
alleges no facts about the dates, prices per share, or sizes of
each of Defendant Young's Class Period sales. Plaintiff also
fails to allege that Defendant Young's sales over the time
period in question were inconsistent with his prior trading
history. In light of the three factors above, Defendant
Young's Class Period sale of stock, as alleged, |is not
sufficiently suspicious, without more, to raise a |strong

inference of scienter.
(e) Plaintiff's Allegations as a Whole

The Court must consider whether the totality of Plaintiff's
allegations, even though individually lacking, are sufficient
to create a strong inference that Defendants issued allegedly
false ‘or misleading statements touting the quality of |AXT's
products with deliberate recklessness, if mnot |actual
knowledge. Lipton, 284 F.3d at 1038. Here, the sum is no
greater than its parts. Plaintiff has failed to |allege
particularized facts that could lead the Court to infer that
Defendants intentionally, or with deliberate recklessness,
misrepresented the quality of AXT's products and its
strategic position as compared with other manufacturers of
similar products. Because Plaintiff's first cause of laction
"lacks sufficient detail and foundation necessary to meet
either the particularity or strong inference requirements of
the PSLRA," it must be dismissed. Silicon Graphics. 183
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F.3d at 984.
b. Financial Statements

Plaintiff alleges that during the Class Period, Defendants
knowingly issued financial statements that overstated
revenue, growth  margins, and earnings in violation of
GAAP, rendering the statements false and misleading under
the Securities and Exchange Act. Specifically, Plaintiff
contends that the financial statements were knowingly false
or misleading in light of: (1) the Company's stated revenue
recognition policy requiring that AXT not recognize
revenue where there is a customer acceptance requirement
or remaining significant obligation; (2) AXT's failure to
accrue adequate reserves; and (3) AXT's failure to take a
timely charge for inventory obsolescence. Plaintiff also
challenges the qualitative statements regarding internal and
disclosure controls contained in the Sarbanes-Oxley
certifications accompanying AXT's quarterly filings
(beginning in April 2002). In support of these allegations,
Plaintiff again relies primarily upon the Company's May
2004 disclosure and its subsequent decisions to increase its
reserves, charge for inventory obsolescence, and reassign its
CEO. Plaintiff also again relies on the confidential witness
statements, Agilent's decision to cancel its order, and
Defendant Young's stock sales. Defendants argue that
Plaintiff has failed to allege a particularized factual basis for
his claim that the financial statements released during the
Class Period were false and involved an improper
recognition of revenue, or that Plaintiff has alleged facts
raising a strong inference that Defendants acted with the
requisite scienter. The Court agrees.

*14 It is generally accepted that standing alone, allegations
of GAAP violations do not establish scienter. In_re Worlds
of Wonder Sec. Litig., 35 F.3d 1407, 1426 (9th Cir.1994).
Rather, to plead fraudulent intent based on GAAP
violations, plaintiffs must allege facts showing that: (1)
specific accounting decisions were improper; and (2) the
defendants knew specific facts at the time that rendered their
accounting determinations fraudulent. DSAM Global Value
Fund v. Altris Software, Inc.. 288 F.3d 385, 390-91 (9th
Cir.2002). Plamntiff has not met this standard. As discussed
supra, Plaintiff only alleges that Defendants must have been
aware that its products were flawed and were being shipped
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to customers anyway based on the vague representations of
three confidential witnesses who do not describe the basis
for their knowledge, the time period of the general
awareness that this practice was occurring, any contact with
AXT's upper management (or specifically, those making the
accounting and revenue recognition decisions), or any
specific transactions on which revenue was knowingly
improperly recorded. See Northpoint, 184 F.Supp.2d at 998
("With accounting fraud, ... the necessary scienter is in
general not established merely by the publication of
inaccurate accounting figures, or failure to follow gqnerally
accepted accounting principles. More is needed.”) Plaintiff
has failed to allege that particular accounting decisioJ1s were

improper or facts that support a strong inferenc;:e that

Defendants were aware of facts that rendered their

accounting decisions fraudulent. In sum, Plaintiff's generic
allegations of accounting fraud fall short of suff%ciently
pleading scienter with respect to Defendants' practice of

recognizing revenue.

The other factors upon which Plaintiff relies to sup%)on his
claim that AXT's financial statements were false or
misleading are also insufficiently pled. The Court examines
these in turn.

1. AXT's Post-Class Period Statements and Conduct

Plaintiff claims that AXT's post-Class Period decisions to
take a $745,000 reserve, to take a $2.1 million write-off, and
to reassign its CEO and promote its CFO to the top|spot at
the Company, demonstrate that the Company's financial

statements, issued during the Class Period, were false when
made and that Defendants knew they were false. Tht‘s Court
disagrees. These allegations are not pled with the requisite
particularity. Plaintiff contends that AXT's post-Class
Period decisions suggest that the Company should have
increased its reserve for returns by $745,000 during the.
Class Period and that the Company's failure to do so renders
the financial statements false. Plaintiff alleges no
contemporaneous facts to support that contention other than
the post-Class Period decision to increase the reserves. This
is a classic example of pleading fraud'by hindsight, which is
exactly what Congress intended to eliminate with its
adoption of the PSLRA. See Silicon Graphics, 183 F.3d at
988: Acito v. IMCERA Group, 47 F.3d 47, 53 (2d Cir.1995)
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("Mere allegations that statements in one report should have
been made in earlier reports do not make out a claim of
securities fraud.") Similarly, AXT's decision to write off
$2.1 million for inventory obsolescence after the close of
the Class Period does not necessarily read back on what the
Company should have done, but did not do, during the Class
Period, or on the falsity of the Company's financial
statements during that period. A "pleading must provide
some particularized support regarding inventory levels, the
defendants' knowledge, and approximately when [the]
plaintiffs think the write-down should have occurred." In re
PETSMART, Inc. Sec. Litig., 61 F.Supp.2d 982, 993
(D.Ariz.1999). Plaintiff fails to do so here. Additionally,
AXT's decision to reassign Defendant Young to head up the
Company's China Operations does not support an inference
of scienter here. Management changes "are not in and of
themselves evidence of scienter. Most major stock losses
are often accompanied by management departures, and it
would be unwise for courts to penalize directors for these

decisions.” In re Cornerstone Propane Parmers, L.P., 355
E.Supp.2d 1069, 1092 (N.D.Cal.2005). Plaintiff has not

alleged sufficiently particularized facts with respect to
Young's reassignment to support his claim that the financial
statements were false when made.

*15 Plaintiff also contends that the Sarbanes-Oxley
certifications signed by Defendant Young and filed with the
SEC were false when made. Again, the Court finds that
Plaintiff has not alleged particularized facts to support his
claim that Defendant Young's averments that he had
examined the Company's internal disclosure controls and
believed they were adequate, were false.

ii. Witness Statements [FNG]

EN6. For purposes of this analysis, the Court
assumes that the witnesses' purported statements
are true since, at this stage in the proceedings, the
Court must view all facts in the light most
favorable to Plaintiff.

As discussed above, the confidential witness statements
relied on by Plaintiff here are insufficient, as currently pled,
to support falsity or scienter. The Complaint fails to allege
how the witnesses would have known what accounting
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effect, if any, product returns would have on the Company's
financial statements, or how Defendants would have ‘known

that the financial statements it released were false or

misleading in light of the alleged product retunlls. See

Juniper Networks, Inc. Sec. Litig., 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS

4025, at *§ (N.D.Cal. Mar. 11, 2004) (allegations éf false

financial forecasts are insufficient where plaintiffs fz‘iiled to

"plead specific facts demonstrating how the problem.‘s being

experienced translated into the need for Juniper to Alter or
reduce its publicly issued projections"). Accordingl , the
confidential witness statements, as currently pled, are
insufficient to support falsity and scienter with respect to the

financial statements.
iii. Agilent Cancels Order

Plaintiff contends that AXT's announcement, during the
Class Period, that Agilent had canceled its orders |due to
AXT's failure to provide products that met Agilent's
specifications supports his claim that the financial
statements were false when made and that Defendants knew
the statements were false. While the Agilent| order
withdrawal suggests that AXT was not always shipping
products that conformed to customer specifications, Plaintiff
fails to allege sufficiently particularized facts that s‘upport
his claim that this meant that the financial statements were

false or that Defendants knew they were false.

iv. Defendant Young's Stock Sales

As discussed supra, Plaintiff fails to allege sufficient|details
regarding Defendant Young's sales of stock during the Class
Period that would support the falsity of the financial
statements and Defendants’ scienter with respect thereto.

v. Plaintiff's Allegations as a Whole

As explained above, the Court must consider whether the
totality of Plaintiff's allegations, even though individually
lacking, are sufficient to create a strong inference that
Defendants issued allegedly false or misleading financial
statements with deliberate recklessness, if mnot | actual
knowledge. Lipton, 284 F.3d at 1038. Here, again, the sum
is no greater than its parts. See In_re Nash Finch Co. Sec.
Litig., 323 F.Supp.2d 956. 964 & n. 9 (D.Minn.2004) ("The
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Court finds the collective minutia offered here adds up to
nothing. Just as two plus two will never equal five, these
allegations--whether considered apart or together--do not
add up to a strong inference of scienter.") [EN7]

EN7. At oral argument, Plaintiff alerted the Court
to the recent holding in In re Omnivision
Technologies, Inc., 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 16009,
*] (N.D.Cal. July 29, 2005). The Court finds that
that case, distinguishable on its facts, does not alter
the Court's conclusions here. In Omnivision, it was
undisputed that the company's financial statements
contained errors. This is not the case here.
Additionally, in that case, the plaintiff alleged facts
supporting a finding that the individual defendants,
executives of the company in question, sold
personal shares of the company's stock
dramatically out of line with their trading history.
That the Omnivision court found that the plaintiff's
complaint survived the defendants' motion to
dismiss, despite the PSLRA's heightened pleading
standard, does not mandate the same result here.

2. Loss Causation

*16 In Dura Pharmaceuticals, the Supreme Court clarified
that alleging that a misrepresentation caused an inflated
purchase price does mot, without more, demonstrate loss
causation. To "touch upon" an economic loss is insufficient;
plaintiffs must demonstrate an actual causal connection
between the defendant's alleged material misrepresentation
and the economic loss suffered. 125 S.Ct. at 1633. This
holding reversed the Ninth Circuit's jurisprudence on the
subject, pursuant to which a plaintiff could satisfy the loss
causation requirement simply by alleging that stock price
was inflated due to the alleged misrepresentation.

Here, the Complaint simply states that because AXT's stock
prices dropped significantly after the Company disclosed its
internal investigation, Plaintiff, and other AXT shareholders
who purchased stock during the Class Period, lost money.
However, Plaintiff has not alleged a proximate, causal
connection between the alleged misrepresentations
contained in AXT's press releases and financial statements
and the consequent decline in AXT stock. Because other
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factors may have affected the Company's stock price |during

the Class Period, Plaintiff must allege more than just that

the alleged misrepresentations inflated the stock pri(}:e. See

id. This is particularly true here where the AXT stoc‘k price
fluctuated significantly during the Class Period, at some

\
points dropping lower than the price of the stock

iter the
April 27, 2004, disclosure regarding the Company's internal
investigation. [FN8] This suggests that the stock price was,
indeed, affected by factors other than Defendants' alleged
false or misleading statements. Accordingly, the| Court
finds, in light of Dura, that Plaintiff's allegations regarding
loss causation are insufficient. Plaintiff's contention that the
Daou case mandates the contrary result is specious. In that
case, the Ninth Circuit found that loss causation was
sufficiently pled but specifically held that because the
complaint disclosed that the price of the company's stock
had declined, during the class period, from $34.375 per
share to $18.50 per share, before any corrective disclosure
was issued, any loss suffered between those figures could
"not be considered causally related to Daou's allegedly
frandulent accounting methods because before the
revelations began ..., the true nature of Daou's financial
condition had not yet been disclosed.” 411 F.3d at 1026-27.
Likewise, AXT's stock price dipped below the price to
which it ultimately fell after the April 2004 disclosure, thus
rendering Plaintiff’s attempt to causally link the alleged false
statements with his (and other purported class members')
financial loss insufficiently pled.

EN8. On April 29, 2004, AXT's stock price
dropped to $2.20 per share. Although the price had,

at various points during the Class Period, b‘een as

high as $40 per share, there was a sub‘tantial
period of time during the Class Period in| which

AXT's stock price dropped below $2 per share.

B. Plaintiff's Second Cause of Action--Violation of Section
20(a)

Section 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act ("Exchange
Act") provides derivative liability for those who (‘:ontrol
others found to be primarily liable under the Act! In_re
Ramp Nerworks. Inc. Sec. Lir.. 201 F.Supp.2d 1051, 1063
(N.D.Cal.2002). Where a plaintiff asserts a Section 20(a)

claim based on an underlying violation of Section 10(b), the
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pleading requirements for both violations are the same. Id.
"To be liable under section 20(a), the defendants must be
liable under another section of the Exchange Act."
Heliotrope General, Inc. v. Ford Motor Co., 189 F.3d 971,
978 (9th Cir.1999).

*17 Here, Plaintiff alleges that Defendant Young acted as a
controlling person of AXT within the meaning of Section
20(a) of the Act and is liable thereunder for the conduct
alleged. Plaintiff claims that by virtue of Defendant Young's
position as CEO and Chairman of the Board of the
Company, he was responsible for preparing and
disseminating AXT's public releases and had the power and
the authority to cause the Company to engage in the
wrongful conduct complained of. Defendants argue that
Plaintiff's Section 20(a) cause of action fails because
Plaintiff has failed to state a cause of action pursuant to
Section 10(b). The Court agrees. Because Plaintiff has failed
to adequately plead the underlying 10(b) violation, as
discussed supra, Plaintiff's Section 20(a) claim must also be
dismissed.

CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, the Court GRANTS Defendants'
Motion to Dismiss without prejudice. Plaintiff must file an
amended complaint within thirty days of the date of this
Order.

This Order terminates docket entry nos. 24 and 25.
IT IS SO ORDERED.

END OF DOCUMENT
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